Utah State University DigitalCommons@USU

All Graduate Theses and Dissertations

Graduate Studies

12-2008

Nursery Production of Selected Actinorhizal Species

Taun D. Beddes Utah State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/etd

Part of the Agricultural and Resource Economics Commons

Recommended Citation

Beddes, Taun D., "Nursery Production of Selected Actinorhizal Species" (2008). *All Graduate Theses and Dissertations*. 170.

https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/etd/170

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate Studies at DigitalCommons@USU. It has been accepted for inclusion in All Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@USU. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@usu.edu.



NURSERY PRODUCTION OF SELECTED

ACTINORHIZAL SPECIES

by

Taun Beddes

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

in

Plant Science

Approved:

Heidi A. Kratsch Major Professor Paul R. Grossl Committee Member

Michael R. Kuhns Committee Member William A. Varga Committee Member

Byron R. Burnham Dean of Graduate Studies

UTAH STATE UNIVERSITY Logan, Utah

2008

Copyright © Taun Beddes 2008 All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

Nursery Production of Selected

Actinorhizal Species

by

Taun Beddes, Master of Science

Utah State University, 2008

Major Professor: Heidi A. Kratsch Department: Plants, Soils, and Climate

An important aspect of sustainable landscaping includes utilization of plants requiring few to no inputs once installed. Limited research exists for many of these species. For this research, we chose four with potential for use: Mexican cliffrose (*Purshia mexicana*), silver buffaloberry (*Shepherdia argentea*), roundleaf buffaloberry (*Shepherdia rotundifolia*), and seaside alder (*Alnus maritima*). All are actinorhizal, meaning they form a symbiotic relationship with soil-borne *Frankia* bacteria that fix atmospheric N₂ for plant use. Many actinorhizal species are also native to arid environments where soils have low organic matter (OM) content. We suspect that these species are detrimentally impacted by traditional growing substrates high in OM due to OM effects on water-holding porosity characteristics. We sowed previously stratified seeds of roundleaf buffaloberry and silver buffaloberry in three substrates with varying amounts of OM and found that roundleaf buffaloberry germination rate was maximized in a calcined clay (66.2%) containing no OM and had low germination rates (12.7 - 21.8%) in the substrates containing OM. Silver buffaloberry germination rates varied from 42.3 to 53.7%, and germination rates were similar across substrates. This shows that substrate water-holding properties can impact germination of some species native to arid environments. Poor seed quality made the research concerning Mexican cliffrose inconclusive.

We also investigated effects of controlled release fertilizer (CRF) on nodule formation in seaside alder and specifically sought to determine if previously inoculated plants treated with CRF would form nodules, and what level of CRF maximizes nodule formation. These plants were topdressed with CRF at rates from 0-32g, while a group of uninoculated plants received the manufacturer prescribed rate of 6 g. We found that 2 g CRF maximized root nodule formation (26 nodules; 110 mg dry weight). Plant growth parameters and leaf N content of 2-g treated plants were similar (P < 0.10) to those of uninoculated plants receiving the prescribed rate of CRF.

(66 pages)

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to thank my wife, who has been patient beyond what could be expected of anyone. I also especially want to thank Dr. Heidi Kratsch, who has nurtured and tutored me in many aspects so that I could complete my Master's degree. Bill Varga has also been instrumental in my efforts. There are several others including my committee members that have offered valuable assistance. In addition, there are many other individuals and groups who, although not officially on my committee, offered valuable assistance in time and resources, including Dr. Bruce Bugbee, The Center for Water-Efficient Landscaping, and The Utah Botanical Center.

Taun Beddes

CONTENTS

vi

	Page
ABSTRACT	iii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	V
LIST OF TABLES	viii
LIST OF FIGURES	ix

CHAPTER

1.	INTRODUCTION, PREVIOUS WORK, AND LITERATURE REVIE	W 1
	Seaside Alder	3
	Mexican Cliffrose	5
	Silver Buffaloberry	7
	Roundleaf Buffaloberry	7
	Research Performed	
	Literature Cited	11
2.	SEED GERMINATION OF SHEPHERDIA ROTUNDIFOLIA AND	
	SHEPHERDIA ARGENTEA IN THREE SUBSTRATES	15
	Significance to the Industry	15
	Introduction	16
	Materials and Methods	18
	Results	
	Discussion	
	Conclusions	
	Literature Cited	26
3	NODULATION OF SEASIDE ALDER TOPDRESSED WITH	
0.	CONTROLLED RELEASE FERTILIZER	29
	Introduction	
	Materials and Methods	31
	Results	34
	Discussion	
	Conclusions	
	Literature Cited	۲ ۲ 11

4. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	44
APPENDICES	47
Appendix I: Germination of Roundleaf Buffaloberry in a Calcined Clay Using Combinations of Cold Stratification, Acid	
Scarification, and Heat Scarification	
Appendix II: Germination of <i>Purshia Mexicana</i> in Three Substrates Appendix III: Unpublished Data from Nodulation of Seaside Alder	54
Topdressed with Controlled Release Fertilizer	56

vii

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1-1	Published methods of breaking seed dormancy in <i>Shepherdia argentea</i> , <i>S. rotundifolia</i> and <i>Purshia mexicana</i>	6
2-1	Uniformity of germination and germination success in three substrates	21
2-2	Results of tetrazolium testing	21
2-3	Substrate properties	22
3-1	Means separation of parameters used to evaluate effects of various fertilizer amounts on seaside alder plants	35
A-1	Viable, nonviable, and germination percentages of roundleaf buffaloberry	52

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		Page
3-1	Regression analysis of controlled release fertilizer level (from 1 to 8 g) as the independent variable and the means of nodule dry weight (A), nodule count (B) and leaf N content (C) as dependent variables	e 36
3-2	Mean NO ₃ -N amounts contained in leachate from CRF-treated seaside alder plants	38
A-1	Regression analysis of controlled release fertilizer levels as the independent variable and NO ₃ -N levels contained in the leachate of 2 g CRF (controlled rel fertilizer) (A), 6 g CRF (B), 8 g CRF (C) and 32 g CRF (D) as dependent variables.	lease 56

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION, PREVIOUS WORK,

AND LITERATURE REVIEW

Until recently, I worked at a local garden center and was responsible for helping clientele with appropriate selections of plant material for their homes. After several years of doing this, I found that the plant palette of most customers was very limited because they were unwilling to purchase plants unless they had seen them in another yard. Conversely, it was very refreshing when other customers wanted unique plants that were not seen elsewhere. I would often ask these customers what had sparked their interest in the particular plant(s) they were looking for; many would reply that they just wanted something different, but others would say that they were also looking for plants that required less maintenance than the commonly available plants used in yards today.

At the garden center, I showed customers unique and adaptable species from many areas of the world that required fewer inputs as compared to more traditional plants. However, there are many additional plants native to the U.S. and to Utah specifically that would grow as well as or better than the commonly available landscape plants.

Unfortunately, many potentially promising native plants are not available to the public because most wholesale growers do not have sufficient information to grow them efficiently, even though there is an increasing demand for such natives. Researchers in Colorado found that there is increasing interest in native plants, but there is a lack of knowledge of how to produce these plants cost-effectively (Potts et al., 2002). The

Southern Nevada Water Authority concluded that using water-wise landscaping plants and techniques could save consumers one-third the cost of irrigation and maintenance as compared to traditional landscaping plants and techniques (Sovocool et al., 2006). Researchers at New Mexico State University also found that consumers are interested in plants that require fewer inputs, and that they strongly identify with the use of native plants in the landscape (Hurd and Smith, 2005).

To aid in the availability of these plants, I chose to focus on four underutilized plants that could be adapted for use in the Utah landscape. These are seaside alder [Alnus maritima (Marsh) Muhl. ex Nutt.], Mexican cliffrose [Purshia mexicana (D. Don) Henrickson], silver buffaloberry [Shepherdia argentea (D. Don) Pursh], and roundleaf buffaloberry (S. rotundifolia Parry). None are readily available in the nursery trade, and all are actinorhizal, that is, have the ability to utilize atmospheric N₂ via a beneficial relationship formed with *Frankia* bacteria that live in root nodules (Ekblad and Huss-Danell, 1995; Paschke, 1997). The bacteria form this relationship with plants classified in eight families of angiosperms, but do not require a host plant to survive in soil (Batzli et al., 2004; Clawson et al., 2004). In fact, Frankia is especially common in newly formed soils and in soils of marginal quality (Clawson et al, 1997). Therefore, plants that utilize this symbiotic relationship are also able to colonize these same areas, making them valuable in soil restoration and soil improvement. Actinorhizal plants actually add usable N to the environment that other non-actinorhizal species can then utilize (Ekblad and Huss-Danell, 1995; Fairchild and Brotherson, 1980; Hurd et al., 2001; Paschke, 1997). These same qualities also make actinorhizal plants potentially valuable to the public,

wherein they can be transplanted and survive, once established, with little to no support from landowners, potentially reducing pollution to the environment and costs to homeowners.

Seaside Alder

Seaside alder was recognized as a species as early as 1785, but it is very rare in nature and is native to only three small, disjunct areas of the United States: Georgia, Oklahoma, and the Delmarva Peninsula. It is considered threatened or endangered in those areas (Schrader et al., 2006; Stibolt et al., 1977). One reason cited by researchers as to why the species is so rare is due to shade intolerance of seedlings which are less able to compete with a sympatric *Alnus* species (Schrader et al., 2006). Due to seaside alders' rarity and natural beauty, efforts have been made to further its utilization by the nursery industry. It can be effectively propagated from both seed and softwood cuttings (Schrader and Graves, 2000). It also shows potential for use in wet areas of the landscape, and could be utilized as a large screen or hedge due to its glossy green leaves, dense foliage and eventual size of twenty feet high and twenty feet wide (USDA, 2007). Schrader and Graves (2004a) investigated its potential for use in cold climates and found it to be hardy to USDA zone 3a.

Even though seaside alder is endemic to wet soils, it can thrive in drier situations. Hennessey and others (1985, p. 139) found that *A. maritima* growth under moderate drought stress is no different when compared to an adequately watered control. However, the same experiment yielded different results for another alder species, *A. glutinosa* (black alder), wherein leaf area and height were "markedly curtailed" under moderate drought conditions. This is important because black alder is commonly used in the landscape trade and apparently is not drought tolerant when compared to *A. maritima*. Schrader and others (2005) found that seaside alder can grow in field soil with vast differences in water saturation in which moisture content of the test plot soil moisture varies from 10% by volume to 100% saturated.

A cultivar of *A. maritima* called 'September Sun' has been introduced into the nursery industry. It is faster growing, more densely foliated and symmetrical than other individual plants observed in the trialing process (Schrader and Graves, 2004b). This cultivar is available from some growers, but it has not yet found wide acceptance in the nursery industry.

In other efforts to further the use of seaside alder in the nursery trade, Laws and Graves (2005), sought to characterize how the relationship between it and *Frankia* can be optimized during the nursery production of the species. Wall and others (2000) found that nodulation can be controlled within different species of alder when they are treated with various forms of N-fertilizer in solution. Similarly, Laws and Graves (2005) treated plants with assorted concentrations of liquid $NH_4NO_{3,-a}$ fertilizer very common in the nursery industry. They found that levels between 4-8 mM (112-224 ppm N) prevented nodulation, but that lower levels between 0.5 and 2 mM (14-56 ppm N) fostered nodulation and also produced healthy plants. The N levels that prevented nodulation are actually within the realm of recommendations made by many manufacturers of liquid fertilizer products. Additionally, in this situation, growers could actually reduce the

amount of N-fertilizer used, thereby reducing costs to them and reducing potential N pollution to the environment.

Alders are considered a model plant in the area of actinorhizal research. They are relatively easy to grow under greenhouse conditions and readily nodulate when exposed to *Frankia* bacteria. Ekblad and Huss-Danell (1995), achieved a 96% nodulation rate in one of their experiments. Conversely, a demand has been shown for other actinorhizal species that can be much more difficult to produce (Potts et al., 2002).

Mexican Cliffrose

Mexican cliffrose is native to arid areas of the Intermountain West (IMW) of the United States and is heavily browsed by deer and other wildlife (Booth, 1980; Paschke, 1997). It can reach 20 feet tall, but usually stays much shorter. It is evergreen and naturally grows in full sun exposure, which is uncharacteristic of most nonnative broadleaved evergreens that are grown in the arid climate of the IMW. Mexican cliffrose has beautiful spring flowers similar to that of shrubby cinquefoil (*Potentilla fruticosa* L). It also withstands heavy pruning. I have observed plants at the USDA shrub lab in Ephraim, UT and at Utah State University campus in Logan, UT that have been sheared into almost perfect globes that were not visibly affected by this.

Most of the research that has been performed involving Mexican cliffrose has occurred in the field, with the idea that the species is primarily for wildlife use and habitat restoration and not for its potential in the landscape. With this in mind though, some field research can potentially be applied to commercial propagation of the species (Table 1-1), but much of it is not efficient for commercial growers to utilize. Table 1-1. Published methods of breaking seed dormancy and propagation of Shepherdia

	a	1.0 1.	1	D 1.	•
araontoa	· ·	rotunditolia	and	Purchia	movicana
urgenieu,	υ.		anu	1 <i>ursnuu</i>	телиани
0 /		5			

Species	Method	Reference
Shepherdia		Deelin en l
argentea	• Stratification for 60-90 days ² .	Baskin and Baskin 2003
	• Cold-stratification at 5° C for 30-60 days.	Smith 1986
	 Moist chill at 3° C for 90 days, or soak in sulfuric acid for 20-30 min. 	USDA 2007
	• Stratify seeds by sowing outdoors in the fall	Zeidler and
	and allow germination in the spring ^y .	Justin 2003b
Shepherdia		
rotundifolia	• 15-30 min sulfuric acid soak ^x , 30-60 days cold stratification.	Borland 1994
	 Soak seeds in sulfuric acid^x for 15-30 min or moist chilling for 30-60 days at 3° C. 	USDA 2007
	• Stratify seeds by sowing outdoors in the fall	Zeidler and
	and allowing them to germinate in the spring ^y .	Justin 2003c
Purshia		
mexicana	• Cold moist stratification for 30 days ^z .	Baskin and
		Baskin 2002
	• Cold-stratification for 28-30 days at 1-3° C or 1-3 hour soak in 1-3% H ₂ O ₂ .	USDA 2007
	• Stratification for 1-2 months ^z .	Dreesen 2003
	• Soak seeds in 98% pure sulfuric acid and then soak for 18 hours in sterile distilled water.	Kohls and others 1994
	• Soak seeds overnight in constantly stirred	Kyle and
	distilled water, after soaking nick seeds and surface sterilize.	Righetti 1996, 1988
	• Unhulled seeds were planted in a layer of	Righetti and
	sterile sand placed over soil.	Munns 1979
	• Achieved over 90 % when seeds soaked in	Stidham and
	0.2% KNO ₃ solution and chilled for 10 weeks ^{z} .	others 1980
	• Seeds sown at a depth of 1 cm with a seed drill	Zeidler and
	in the fall and then germinated in the spring ^y .	Justin 2003a
^z no specific info	rmation given on stratification temperature.	
^y primarily for ba	re-root production.	

^x no specific concentration given

Silver Buffaloberry

Silver buffaloberry is native to much of Canada and the western half of the United States. Like seaside alder, it naturally grows in riparian areas but also can be found in dryer locations, especially in the Great Plains (USDA, 2007). It can grow to 6 m (20 ft) high and 6 m wide, and has glossy, grey-green leaves that are shed in the fall. The species is browsed by several wildlife species, with the exception of deer (and cattle), and the berries are consumed by humans. Native Americans used them as an accompaniment to buffalo meat, and the berries can also be made into jelly (Smith, 1986).

A current use of silver buffaloberry includes habitat reclamation, but researchers note that it could be used as an ornamental plant, especially as a windbreak, as a hedge, and in traffic control due to thorns being present on the branches (Paschke, 1997; Smith, 1986; USDA, 2007). Smith (1986) notes that silver buffaloberry is cold-hardy in all zones. Paul and others (1971) sampled soil where silver buffaloberry is endemic and found the soil samples had a clay consistency with a pH of 7.5, which suggests that the species could be grown in the alkaline soils of Utah's urban landscape which have similarly harsh characteristics. Little research exists pertaining to propagation of this species by commercial growers. A sample of propagation information found within the literature can be found in Table 1-1.

Roundleaf Buffaloberry

Unlike other members of the *Shepherdia* genus, roundleaf buffaloberry is endemic to arid regions of southern Utah, northern Arizona, and northern New Mexico. It grows to 2 m (6 feet) high and 2-4 m (6-12 ft) wide, and its leaves are grayish-green. It is mostly evergreen in contrast to other members of the genus (Borland, 1994). This characteristic potentially makes *S. rotundifolia* a valuable landscape plant due to a lack of other broadleaved evergreen species that thrive in the harsh climates of the IMW. Roundleaf buffaloberry also thrives in areas with alkaline soil and can improve soils by accumulating the nutrients N and K in its root-zone (Fairchild and Brotherson, 1980).

Like Mexican cliffrose and silver buffaloberry, little research has been done pertaining to propagation of roundleaf buffaloberry, and most of what exists pertains to breaking seed dormancy and not germination in greenhouse settings. It is known that all buffaloberry species exhibit both a physiologically dormant embryo and physical dormancy due to a hard seed coat (USDA, 2007). Table 1-1 provides further information on what others have done to break dormancy of roundleaf buffaloberry.

Research Performed

With the demand for native species increasing and the lack of production information available to growers, we have chosen to focus on these four species to further their use within the nursery industry. We want our research to be directly applicable to commercial growers. To do so, we utilized products and production methods that those within the industry already use or could potentially use in their operations. For example, certain actinorhizal species may only form a symbiotic relationship with specific strains of *Frankia* bacteria, and soils in the natural environment do not always contain compatible forms for every species (Clawson et al., 1997). Because of this, if growers could produce previously nodulated plants using compatible *Frankia* in a nursery setting, they could potentially reduce costs to themselves and the public by being able to use reduced amounts of N-fertilizer. Reduced N-fertilizer use would also diminish potential environmental contamination.

To facilitate production of previously nodulated alders, we performed an experiment similar to one described by Laws and Graves (2005). However, we used a controlled release fertilizer (CRF) as a nutrient source due to its availability within the nursery industry and because it is uncertain how its use impacts nodulation in actinorhizal species. Many researchers have found that nutrient release from CRF increases as temperatures rise and also with heavy watering (Cabrera, 1997; Dou and Alva, 1998; Engelsjord et al., 1997; Huett and Gogel, 2000; Husby et al., 2003). We applied CRF to alders previously inoculated with *Frankia* bacteria at rates ranging from 0-32 g per plant. Plants were irrigated to container capacity twice daily for 45 days, and NO₃-N levels from the leachate were monitored every 14 days of the experiment. Plants treated with CRF at rates below the manufacturer's recommendation of 6 g per plant were both healthy and formed nodules, especially in the 2-g treatment.

Information about commercial production of roundleaf buffaloberry, silver buffaloberry, and Mexican cliffrose is also very limited. These plants are native to areas where soil organic matter levels are characteristically low. Because of this, we suspected that utilizing traditional growing substrates high in organic matter would be detrimental to germination in these species and others native to the arid West.

To determine if water-holding porosity was detrimental to germination of silver buffaloberry, roundleaf buffaloberry, and Mexican cliffrose, we placed seeds of each species in three different growing substrates: the first, a traditional germination mix high in organic matter (71% by volume); another, a locally popular self-blended mix common in the local native plants industry (29% organic matter by volume); and a calcined Montmorillonite clay product (0% organic matter). Roundleaf buffaloberry germination, was highest (above 60%) in the calcined clay, and much lower in the other two substrates. Silver buffaloberry germination varied from approximately 40 to 50% in all substrates; and Mexican cliffrose seed quality was of low quality, and germination was excessively low in all substrates.

Because roundleaf buffaloberry germinated at its highest levels in the calcined clay, we sought to further refine techniques involving breaking seed dormancy to maximize its germination when sown within calcined clay. To do so, we cold-stratified groups of roundleaf buffaloberry seed for 0, 4, 8, or 16 weeks. In addition to this, groups of seed were scarified for 10 min in sulfuric acid and then cold-stratified for 0, 4, or 8 weeks. Groups of seed were also scarified using boiling water and then stratified for 0, 4, or 8 weeks.

We found no statistical differences in germination among treatments, wherein germination varied from 0% in the 0 weeks stratification, and no scarification treatment to 16% in the treatment stratified for 8 weeks and heat-scarified. These germination rates were well below that experienced in the previous experiment. Tetrazolium (TZ) tests at experiment's end revealed upwards of 60% seed viability in some of the treatments. The seed used in this experiment was of a different lot than that used in our previous experiment. We are not certain as to why it germinated at such low rates. A certificate of seed quality was not included with our purchase from the vendor, and we were unable to

check germination before the experiment due to a lack of available seed.

Literature Cited

- Baskin, C. and M. Baskin. 2002. Propagation protocol for production of container *Cowania mexicana* D. Donn var. Stansburiana Torr. plants; University of Kentucky, Lexington, Kentucky. Native Plants Network. 7 Sept 2007. http://www.nativeplantsnetwork.org>.
- Baskin, C. and M. Baskin. 2003. Propagation protocol for production of container Shepherdia argentea (Pursh) Nutt. plants; University of Kentucky, Lexington, Kentucky. Native Plants Network. 7 Sept 2007. http://www.nativeplantsnetwork.org>.
- Batzli, J.M., J.F. Zimpfer, V. Huguet, C.A. Smyth, M. Fernandez, and J.O. Dawson. 2004. Distribution and abundance of infective, soilborne *Frankia* and host symbionts *Shepherdia*, *Alnus*, and *Myrica* in a sand dune ecosystem. Can. J. Bot. 82(5): 700-709.
- Booth, T.D. 1980. Emergence of bitterbrush seedlings on land disturbed by phosphate mining. J. Range. Manage. 33(6):439-441.
- Borland, J. 1994. Shepherdia rotundifolia. Amer. Nurseryman 179(7):106.
- Cabrera, R.I. 1997. Comparative evaluation of nitrogen release patterns from controlled-release patterns from controlled-release fertilizers by nitrogen leaching analysis. HortScience 32(4):669-673.
- Clawson, M.L., D.R. Bensen, and R.C. Resch. 1997. Typical *Frankia* infect actinorhizal plants exotic to New Zealand. N.Z. J. Bot. 35: 361-367.
- Clawson, M.L., A. Bourret, and D.R. Benson. 2004. Assessing the phylogeny of *Frankia*-actinorhizal plant nitrogen-fixing root nodule symbioses with *Frankia* 16S rRNA and glutamine synthetase gene sequences. Mol. Phylogenet. Evol. 31(1): 131-138.
- Dou, H. and A.K. Alva. 1998. Nitrogen uptake and growth of two citrus rootstock seedlings in a sandy soil receiving different controlled-release fertilizer sources. Eur. J. Soil Biol. 26:169-172.

- Dreesen, D. 2003. Propagation protocol of *Purshia mexicana* plants; USDA NRCS Los Lunas Plants Materials Center, Los Lunas, New Mexico. Native Plants Network. 7 Sept 2007. < http://www.nativeplantsnetwork.org>.
- Ekblad, A. and K. Huss-Danell. 1995. Nitrogen fixation in *Alnus incana* and nitrogen transfer to *Pinus ponderosa* influenced by macronutrients and ectomycorrhiza. New Phytol. 131: 453-459.
- Englesjord, M.E., O. Fostad, and B.R. Singh. 1997. Effects of temperature on nutrient release from slow release fertilizers. Nutr. Cycling Agroecosyst. 46:179-187.
- Fairchild, J.A. and J.D. Brotherson. 1980. Microhabitat relationships of six major shrubs in Navajo National Monument, Arizona. J. Range Manage. 33(2):150-158.
- Hennessey, T.C., L.K. Bair, and R.W. McNew. 1985. Variation in response among three *Alnus* spp. Clones to progressive water stress. Plant and Soil 87:135-141.
- Huett, D.O. and G.J. Gogel. 2000. Longevities of nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium release patterns of polymer-coated controlled-release fertilizer at 30° and 40° C. Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal. 31(7&8)959-973.
- Hurd, B.H. and J. Smith. 2005. Landscape attitudes and choices: A survey of New Mexico homeowners. Water Task Force Report 5, College of Agriculture and Home Economics, New Mexico State University, Las Cruces, NM.
- Hurd, T.M., D.J. Raynal, and C.R Schwintzer. 2001. Symbiotic N₂ fixation of *Alnus incana* spp. *rugosa* in shrub wetlands of the Adirondack Mountains, New York, USA. Oecologia 126:94-103.
- Husby, C.E., A.X. Niemiera, J.R. Harris, and R.D. Wright. 2003. Influence of diurnal temperature on three polymer-coated fertilizers. HortScience 38(3):387-389
- Kohls, S.J., J. Thimmaparum, M.W. Paschke, and J.O. Dawson. 1994. Nodulation patterns of actinorhizal plants in the family Rosaceae. Plant and Soil 162:229-239.
- Kyle, N.E. and T.L. Righetti. 1996. Observations from roots and shoots from interspecific grafted rosaceous shrubs. J. Range Manage. 49(4):350-354.
- Kyle, N.E. and T.L. Righetti. 1988. Survival of intergeneric micrografted rosaceae. Bot. Gaz. 149:21-24.

- Laws, M.T. and W.R. Graves. 2005. Nitrogen inhibits nodulation and reversibly suppresses nitrogen fixation in nodules of *Alnus maritima*. J. Am. Soc. Hort. Sci. 130(4):496-499.
- Paschke, M.W. 1997. Actinorhizal plants in rangelands of the Western United States. J. Range Manage. 50(1):62-72.
- Paul E.A., R.J.K., Myers, and W.A. Rice. 1971. Nitrogen fixation in grassland and associated cultivated ecosystems. Plant and Soil (Special Volume) 495-507.
- Potts, L.E., M.J Roll, and S.J Wallner. 2002. Voices of the green industry. Native Plants J. 3(2):121-125.
- Righetti, T.L. and D.N. Munns. 1979. Nodulation and nitrogen fixation in Cliffrose (*Cowania mexicana*). Plant Physiol. 65:411-412.
- Schrader, J.A., S.J Gardener, and W.R. Graves. 2005. Resistance to water stress of *Alnus maritima*: intraspecific variations and comparisons to other alders. Environ. Exp. Bot. 53:281-298.
- Schrader, J.A. and W.R. Graves. 2000. Propagation of *Alnus maritima* from soft wood cuttings. HortScience 35(2):293-295.
- Schrader, J.A. and W.R. Graves. 2004a. Ecophydiology, phenology, and depth of cold acclimation in three subspecies of *Alnus maritima*. Acta Hort. 630:199-206.
- Schrader, J.A. and W.R. Graves. 2004b. 'September Sun' seaside alder: an autumnblooming shrub native to North America. HortScience 39(2):438-439.
- Schrader, J.A., W.R. Graves, S.A. Rice, and J.P Gibson. 2006. Differences in shade tolerance help explain varying success of two sympatric *Alnus* species. Int. J. Plant Sci. 165(5): 979-989.
- Smith, R.C. 1986. Shepherdia argentea. Amer. Nurseryman 166(10):134.
- Sovocool, K.A., M. Morgan, and D. Bennett. 2006. An in-depth investigation of xeriscape as a water conservation measure. J. Amer. Waterworks Assoc. 98(2):82-93.
- Stibolt, V., R. Broome, and J.L. Reveal. 1977. *Alnus maritima* Muhl. not *Alnus metoporina* Furlow. Ann. Mo. Bot. Gard. 64(2):373-374.

- Stidham N.D., R.M. Ahring, J. Powell, and P.L. Claypool. 1980. Chemical scarification, moist prechilling, and thiourea effects on germination of 18 shrub species. J. Range Management 32(2):115-118.
- [USDA NSL] National Seed Laboratory. 2007. Woody plants manual. 15 Oct 2007 <http://www.nsl.fs.us/wpsm/>.
- Wall, G.L., A. Hellsten and K. Huss-Danell. 2000. Nitrogen, phosphorus, and the ratio between them affect nodulation in *Alnus incana* and *Trifolium pratense* Symbiosis. (29)2:91-105.
- Zeidler, S. and J. Justin. 2003a. Propagation protocol for production of field grown *Purshia mexicana* (D. Don) Henrickson plants (1+0); Utah Division of Forestry, Fire and State Land Lone Peak Nursery, Draper, Utah. Native Plant Network. 7 Sept 2007. http://www.nativeplantsnetwork.org>.
- Zeidler, S. and J. Justin. 2003b. Propagation protocol for production of field grown *Shepherdia argentea* (Pursh) Nutt. plants (2+0); Utah Division of Forestry, Fire and State Land Lone Peak Nursery, Draper, Utah. Native Plant Network. 7 Sept 2007. http://www.nativeplantsnetwork.org >.
- Zeidler, S. and J. Justin. 2003c. Propagation protocol for production of field grown *Shepherdia rotundifolia* Parry plants (2+0); Utah Division of Forestry, Fire and State Land Lone Peak Nursery, Draper, Utah. Native Plant Network. 7 Sept 2007. < http://www.nativeplantsnetwork.org>.

CHAPTER 2

SEED GERMINATION OF *SHEPHERDIA ROTUNDIFOLIA* AND *SHEPHERDIA ARGENTEA* IN THREE SUBSTRATES¹

Abstract

Many western native plant species occur in areas characterized by well-drained soils low in organic matter, and we suspect traditional growing substrates high in organic matter may impede their germination. Silver buffaloberry (*Shepherdia argentea* (Pursh) Nutt. [Elaeagnaceae]) and roundleaf buffaloberry (*Shepherdia rotundifolia* Parry [Elaeagnaceae]) seeds were sown in three substrates that differed in organic matter and drainage properties. Roundleaf buffaloberry exhibited greatest germination in a calcined montmorillonite clay substrate (66.2%); it had low germination rates in a commercial germination mix (12.7%) and a self-prepared locally popular mix (21.8%). Silver buffaloberry germination rates varied from 42.3 to 53.7%, but rates in different substrates were not different statistically. We conclude that a calcined clay can improve germination of roundleaf buffaloberry.

Significance to the Industry

With rapid development occurring in the arid West, many municipalities have faced unprecedented challenges in meeting demands for providing adequate water resources. To meet these demands, many entities have turned to regulating landscaping methods to minimize water loss. Many residents have also begun to identify with their surroundings and have started landscaping in ways that more closely match the local

¹ Co-authored by Taun Beddis and Heidi A. Kratsch.

natural environment where inclusion of native drought-adapted plants is an important aspect.

However, many who desire to use native-adapted plants face a lack of availability due to growers' limited knowledge of methods to optimize germination of these species. We studied germination of two genetically related nitrogen-fixing, drought-adapted species, silver and roundleaf buffaloberry. Nitrogen-fixing species are adapted to low nutrient soils and add nitrogen to the environment. We planted seeds of both species in three substrates: a germination mix, a locally popular native plant mix, and a calcined montmorillonite clay product. Roundleaf buffaloberry germination was maximized in this calcined clay which contained no organic matter. The other two substrates, which had greater water holding capacities, negatively affected germination of this species.

Introduction

Many municipalities in the arid western United States have had to restrict how water is used in landscapes because of population growth and limited water supplies. There also is a growing desire by residents to more closely match their landscaping style to the natural beauty of the region. Recent surveys of both the Utah and Colorado green industries found that demand for drought-tolerant native plant species is on the rise (9, 17). The Colorado survey also found that commercial growers lack needed information about cost-effective methods to propagate and produce many desirable native plants (17). This lack of research limits widespread use of native plants. Some plants of interest to the green industry that are not readily available are silver buffaloberry (*Shepherdia* *argentea* (Pursh) Nutt. [Elaeagnaceae]) and roundleaf buffaloberry (*Shepherdia rotundifolia* Parry [Elaeagnaceae]) (17).

Silver buffaloberry, a deciduous shrub that grows naturally in riparian areas, but it also can be found in drier locations, especially in the Great Plains (23). It can grow 6 m (20 ft) high and 6 m (20 ft) wide, and has glossy, grey-green leaves. Roundleaf buffaloberry is native to the Four-Corners area of the southwestern United States, grows to 2 m (6 ft) high and 2-4 m (6-12 ft) wide, and its round evergreen leaves have a grayish-green cast and are public public on their undersides (2, 23).

Characteristics common to these two species include their natural occurrence in alkaline soils and drought-tolerance once established (2, 14, 16, 20). Both species have the capacity to utilize atmospheric nitrogen by way of a beneficial relationship formed with *Frankia* soil bacteria (14). Plants that utilize this symbiotic relationship are valuable in soil restoration and soil improvement, and they add plant-available nitrogen to the soil, potentially benefiting neighboring plants (6, 7, 10, 14, 15). These qualities make the species valuable to communities in the West, where they could be used in low-water landscapes and survive with minimal inputs of water and nitrogen.

Some information is available on breaking dormancy and germinating seeds of these species for habitat restoration. Zeidler and John (24) developed protocols for seed germination of roundleaf buffaloberry by planting seeds in a thin layer of sand on mulched beds. Seeds are allowed to stratify over winter and naturally germinate in the spring. It has also been suggested by some that a sulfuric acid soak can break seed dormancy in this species. Similar techniques have also been suggested for silver buffaloberry (2, 8, 23). Many of these methods are impractical for commercial ornamental production, wherein it is economically crucial for maximum seed germination to occur over a relatively short time.

Little attention has also been given to characteristics of growing substrates that can maximize germination of species native to arid regions. It has been noted that substrates used to produce plants should be customized towards a particular plant's growing requirements (11). However, most commercial substrates are designed to have organic matter content and water-holding characteristics that are optimal for production of conventional landscape plants adapted to wetter environments. These characteristics may be detrimental to germination of species that are endemic to arid climates with rocky or sandy soils low in organic matter (7, 14). Some Intermountain West growers formulate and use their own growing substrates in an effort to improve germination and growth of native plant species, but these substrates have not been tested against conventional substrates for their efficacy. The purpose of our work was to determine germination success of these two underutilized western native species in substrates with diverse properties. Our results provide insight into substrate qualities that may optimize germination of drought-tolerant western native plant species.

Materials and Methods

Germination. Seeds of silver buffaloberry were purchased from a commercial vendor (Granite Seed, Lehi, Utah). Seeds of roundleaf buffaloberry were hand-collected from plants located 20 km (10 mi.) west of Escalante, UT on June 6 2005. On April 23 2006, seeds of the two species were placed into cold-stratification (3° C) for 16 weeks in

sealed plastic 100 mm x 10 mm petri dishes between two #3-weight 90-mm filter papers, wetted with 2 ml distilled water. On Aug. 13 2006, 48 stratified seeds of each of the two species were sown into flats, each filled with 1 of 3 substrates. Each flat contained 16 seeds of each species, and there were 3 flats of each substrate, for a total of 9 flats. Each set of 16 seeds in each flat was an experimental unit (N = 3).

Germination was monitored daily for 40 days. Flats were hand-watered twice daily to saturation and then allowed to drain to field capacity. Greenhouse temperatures during the experiment averaged 25.5° C day/20° C night, with an overall mean temperature of 22° C. Mean daytime photosynthetically active radiation during the experiment was 646 μ mol·m⁻²·s⁻¹. After 40 days, a tetrazolium (TZ) test was performed on ungerminated seeds recovered from the substrates to ensure homogeneity of distribution of viable nondormant seeds. Tetrazolium testing involved nicking each seed with a razor blade and then soaking the seed for 24 hours at 40 ° C in a 0.1% TZ. At the end of 24 hours, seeds were cut in a manner so that staining could be visualized (12).

Substrates. We used Turface MVPTM (Profile Products, Buffalo Grove, IL) a calcined montmorillonite clay product (hereafter referred to as 'calcined clay'), Sunshine Mix #3 (hereafter referred to as 'germination mix') (Sun Gro Horticulture, Bellevue, WA) and a self-prepared, locally popular substrate (hereafter referred to as 'native mix') containing 2 peat moss : 2 perlite : 1 calcined clay : 1 sand (by volume).

We calculated total porosity, aeration porosity, and water-holding porosity for each substrate using methods easily duplicated by the nursery industry (4, 21). Substrate characteristics were measured by using plastic 500-ml water bottles with the bottom cut off so the new bottle volume was 400 ml. The bottle was inverted, and a hose-end mesh filter was placed above the spout of the inverted bottle to prevent substrate from escaping from the bottle when the lid was removed. The bottles were filled with dry substrate, and water was poured slowly over the substrate until it was saturated. The amount of water poured into the column was recorded and represented substrate pore volume. Total porosity was determined as a percentage using the following equation: [(substrate pore volume / container volume) \times 100]. Aeration porosity was obtained by covering the cut top of the bottle with aluminum foil to prevent water evaporation, and carefully removing the lid from the bottom of the inverted water bottle to allow the water to drain from the saturated substrate into a container under the column until the substrate no longer dripped water and had reached field capacity. The volume of water that drained from the substrate represented aeration pore volume. Aeration porosity also was determined as a percentage and was calculated using the following equation: [(aeration pore volume / container volume) $\times 100$]. Water-holding porosity was determined by using the following equation: [(total porosity – aeration porosity)]. Substrate measurements were replicated three times to insure accuracy of technique.

Statistics. Statistical analysis was performed using the SAS/STAT software version 9.1 (18), using the general linear models procedure of SAS. Means separation was performed using Fisher's least significant difference (LSD) test, and Levene's test was used for evaluation of homogeneity of variance. Correlation between parameters was measured using the PROC CORR procedure of SAS.

Results

Germination of roundleaf buffaloberry was at least three times higher in calcined clay than in either of the other two substrates (Table 2-1). A negative correlation was found between germination of seed of this species and substrate water-holding porosity $(r^2 = -0.72, P = 0.0301)$. Silver buffaloberry seed had the highest rate of germination of the two species over all substrates (Table 2-2), and germination was not different statistically among the three substrates (P = 0.8363) (Table 2-1).

Table 2-1. Uniformity of germination and germination success in three substrates						
Substrate	Silver Buffaloberry			Roun	dleaf	Buffaloberry
	T_{30-90}^{z}	T_{50}^{y}	Germination	T ₃₀₋₉₀	T ₅₀	Germination
			%			%
Germination Mix	12	13	53.7 a ^x	18	16	12.7 b
Native Mix	28	13	50.1 a	25	4	21.8 b
Calcined Clay	34	5	42.3 a	23	18	66.2 a

^z Number of days from 30-90% of the measured germination rate

^y Number of days to reach 50% of the measured germination rate

^x Means within the germination columns followed by the same letter are not statistically different at the P < 0.05 according to Fisher's least significant difference test. Germination is calculated as a percentage of viable seed.

	Seed Q	uality	
Germination (%) ^z	Dormant (%)	Non-Viable (%)	Empty (%)
44.0 a ^y	21.5 a	1.4 a	32.6 a
25.7 a	31.2 a	13.2 a	30.0 a
	Germination (%) ^z 44.0 a ^y 25.7 a	Germination $(\%)^z$ Dormant (%)44.0 ay21.5 a25.7 a31.2 a	Germination $(\%)^z$ Dormant $(\%)$ Non-Viable $(\%)$ 44.0 ay21.5 a1.4 a25.7 a31.2 a13.2 a

Table 2-2	Results	of tetraz	olium	testing

^z Germination is expressed as a percentage of all seed of each species.

^y Means within the germination columns followed by the same letter are not statistically different at the P < 0.05 according to Fisher's least significant difference test.

Tests of substrate properties revealed that germination mix had the greatest total porosity; its total porosity was 16% greater than the total porosity of native mix and 30% greater than the total porosity of calcined clay (Table 2-3). Water holding porosity was also greatest in germination mix. Aeration porosity was greater in the native mix as compared to the other substrates. Organic matter content was greatest in the germination mix and more than double that of the native mix. The calcined clay contained no organic matter. Levene's test for homogeneity of variance revealed homogeneity of distribution across substrate samples for measurements of total porosity, aeration porosity, and waterholding porosity (P = 0.460, P = 0.1873, P = 0.1323, respectively). Organic matter content was obtained from manufacturers' ingredient lists.

Tetrazolium tests of recovered seed revealed that seed lots of each species were of similar quality (Table 2-2). Levene's test of homogeneity of variance revealed homogeneity of distribution across substrates among dormant, nonviable, and empty

Table 2-3. Substrate properties							
	Substrate Properties						
Growing substrate	Total porosity (%)	Aeration porosity (%)	Water-holding porosity (%)	Organic Matter (g · kg ⁻¹)			
Native Mix	61.6	19.3	42.3	290.0			
Germination Mix	71.3	16.3	55.0	710.0			
Calcined Clay	55.0	15.5	39.5	0.0			

٦	Cable	2-3	Substrate	nronerti
	ane	2-5	. SUDSILAIE	спрорени

seeds of each species (silver buffaloberry P = 0.2433, P = 0.0787 and P = 0.1307, respectively; roundleaf buffaloberry P = 0.1301, P = 0.7026 and P = 0.5222, respectively).

Discussion

Our work shows that substrate properties can affect germination of roundleaf buffaloberry, and that commercial production of silver buffaloberry is possible with multiple substrate types.

The reason roundleaf buffaloberry germination was maximized in the calcined clay is most likely due to the nature of how water is held within the substrate at field capacity. Due to the relatively large particle size (between 1 and 2 mm), water contained within in the calcined clay is held in capillary pore spaces inside particles themselves leaving noncapillary pore space largely filled by air (11, 22). This resulted in a situation that allowed for excellent drainage of water from the substrate, while water held within the calcined clay particles created a 100% humidity atmosphere for seed germination. These conditions, in which maximal germination of roundleaf buffaloberry occurred, are similar to those that roundleaf buffaloberry seed would be exposed to in its native environment. Fairchild and Brotherson (7) analyzed soil samples from several locations where roundleaf buffaloberry is native, and found that average content of sand, silt, and clay was 83, 12, and 5%, respectively. The high sand content suggests that the soil was well drained. No organic matter is mentioned in their analysis, and the authors state that soil composition varied little between locations. We sampled soil from beneath roundleaf buffaloberry growing in its native habit and found that it was a sandy loam with organic

matter content at 13 g \cdot kg⁻¹. Soils in the arid west are characterized by low organic matter content (7), in the range of 10-30 g \cdot kg⁻¹. We realize that the organic matter contents of native mix and germination mix are out of the range of physiological relevance for plants endemic to western soils.

Others have similarly found that production of native species can be enhanced by providing conditions that mimic native habitats. For instance, a study of several native and introduced plants growing in southern California salt marshes found that germination of species native to that habitat was optimized when variable conditions from the natural environment were met under artificial growing conditions (13). In an experiment involving plains cottonwood (*Populus deltoides* Bartr. Ex. Marsh [Salicaceae]), Shafroth and others (19), examined environmental characteristics that affected germination of the species and showed that greatest germination rates occurred under moist conditions in direct sunlight, conditions that closely replicate those of their natural habitat. Brumback and others (3) found that Robbins' cinquefoil (*Potentilla robbinsiana* ex. Rydb. [Rosaceae]) produced within a greenhouse environment experienced high mortality rates, but once surviving plants were transplanted back into their native environment, a 90% survival rate occurred after the first year of transplanting.

When comparing the water holding porosities of the substrates, it must be taken into account how the incorporated sphagnum peat moss in the native mix and germination mix impacted water availability within the substrate. These substrates contain 33 to 75% peat moss (by volume), creating a situation in which more liquid water comes in direct contact with the seed. Drzal and others (5) studied characteristics of various substrate components and found the particle size of their peat moss varied from 0.5 to 2 mm. They also found that particles of this size creates a substrate with a high water holding capacity, and the pores within this grade of peat moss are capable of storing water that is readily accessible to plants. Argo (1) also states that peat moss can retain water that is easily accessible to plants as compared to other substrates.

In addition, we noted that ingredient separation occurred when water was poured over the native mix too quickly during measurement of substrate properties. This created a perched water table in the columns and could potentially do the same in nursery containers. This could adversely affect germination of many species by decreasing drainage to a point that seeds could rot. We have noticed that buffaloberry seeds are prone to fungal infestation when cold-stratified under very wet conditions (data not shown).

Our findings that silver buffaloberry can be readily germinated in multiple substrates suggests that this species is relatively insensitive to substrate properties. Indeed, Canadian researchers were able to grow over 16,000 units to an outplantable size in one year for the purpose of land reclamation (16). Commercial propagation is also possible in an outdoor setting for the purposes of bare-root production (8).

Conclusions

Our research has shown germination of roundleaf buffaloberry can be maximized in a substrate low in organic matter and with good drainage properties. Because of the shortage of drought-adapted native shrubs in the industry (17), we recommend further study of conditions that enhance production of these species for use in water-conserving landscapes.

Literature Cited

- Argo, W.R. 1997. Transplant production and performance: media and physical properties, p. 11-14. *In*: Proc. of the Fifth National Symposium on Stand Establishment—Transplant Workshop. Ohio State University, Columbus, Ohio.
- 2. Borland, J. 1994. Shepherdia rotundifolia. Amer. Nurseryman 179(7):106.
- Brumback, J., M. Weihrauch, and K.D. Kimball2004. Propagation and transplanting of an endangered alpine species Robbins' cinquefoil *Potentilla robbinsiana* (Rosaceae). Native Plants J. 5(1):91-97.
- 4. Davidson, H., R. Mecklenburg, and C. Peterson. 2000. Nursery Management: administration and culture. 4th ed. Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs N.J., 530 p.
- Drzal, M.S., W.C. Fonteno, and D.K. Cassel. 1999. Pore fraction analysis: a new tool for substrate testing. Proc. of the International Symposium on Growing Media and Hydroponics. Acta Horticulturae 481:43-46.
- Ekblad, A. and K. Huss-Danell. 1995. Nitrogen fixation in *Alnus incana* and nitrogen transfer to *Pinus ponderosa* influenced by macronutrients and ectomycorrhiza. New Phytologist. 131:453-459.
- Fairchild, J.A. and J.D. Brotherson. 1980. Microhabitat relationships of six major shrubs in Navajo National Monument, Arizona. J. Range Manage. 33(2):150-158.
- 8. Grubb, B.H. 2007. Propagation Protocol for Bareroot Silver Buffaloberry (*Shepherdia argentea*). Native Plants J. 8(3):233-235.
- Heflebower, R., T. Cerny-Koenig, M. Waters, and R. Ward. 2005. Water-wise plant recognition program 43(1). 15 Oct 2007. http://www.joe.org/joe/ >2005february/iw5.shtml.

- Hurd, T.M., D.J. Raynal, and C.R. Schwintzer. 2001. Symbiotic N₂ fixation of *Alnus incana* spp. *rugosa* in shrub wetlands of the Adirondack Mountains, New York, USA. Oecologia. 126:94-103.
- Ingram, D.L., R.W. Henely, and T.H. Yeager. Growth media for container grown ornamental plants. University of Florida Extension publication. CN004. 1 Oct. 2008. http://edis.ifas.ufl.edu/CN004>.
- International Seed Testing Association. 1985. International rules for seed testing: Rules 1985. Seed Sci. and Tech. 13:299-355.
- 13. Noe, G.B. 2002. Temporal variability matters: effects of constant vs. varying moisture and salinity on germination. Ecological Monographs 72(3): 427-443.
- Paschke, M.W. 1997. Actinorhizal plants in rangelands of the Western United States. J.of Range. Manage. 50(1):62-72.
- Paul, E.A., R.J.K. Myers, and W.A. Rice. 1971. Nitrogen fixation in grassland and associated cultivated ecosystems. Plant and Soil. (Special Volume) 495-507.
- 16. Pe'rnet, P., J.G. Brouillette, J.A. Fortin, and M. Lalonde. 1985. Large scale inoculation of actinorhizal plants with *Frankia*. Plant and Soil. 87: 175-187.
- Potts, L.E., M.J. Roll, and S.J. Wallner. 2002. Voices of the green industry. Native Plants J. 3(2):121-125.
- SAS Institute Inc. 2006. SAS/STAT general linear model. Release 9.1 Edition. Cary (NC): SAS Institute Inc.
- Shafroth, P.B., G.T. Auble, and M.L. Scott. 1995. Germination and establishment of the native plains cottonwood (*Populus deltoides* Marshall subsp. Monilifera) and the exotic Russian-olive (*Elaeagnus angustifolia* L.). Conservation Biol. 9(5): 1169-1175.
- 20. Smith, R.C. 1986. Shepherdia argentea. Amer. Nurseryman. 166(10):134.
- Spomer, L.A. 1977. How much total water retention and aeration porosity in my container mix? Illinois State Florists Assoc. Bull. 369:13-15.

- Stout, S.C., M.D. Porterfield, LG. Briarty, A. Kuang, and M.E. Musgrave.
 2001. Evidence of root zone hypoxia in *Brassica rapa* L. grown in microgravity. International J. Plant Sci. 162(2): 249-255.
- 23. [USDA NSL] National Seed Laboratory. 2007. Woody plants manual. 15 Oct. 2007. http://www.nsl.fs.us/wpsm/>.
- 24. Zeidler, J. and J. John. 2003. Propagation protocol for field grown Shepherdia rotundifolia Parry plants (2+0). Native Plants Journal. 30 Sep 2008. http://nativeplants.for.uidaho.ude/network/view.asp?protocol_id=2680>.

CHAPTER 3 NODULATION OF SEASIDE ALDER TOPDRESSED WITH CONTROLLED RELEASE FERTILIZER²

Abstract. Alnus maritima (Marsh.) Muhl. ex Nutt. (seaside alder) is a rare species adapted for ornamental use. It can be produced easily by commercial growers, and when soilinoculated in nursery containers, will form root nodules containing nitrogen (N₂)-fixing *Frankia* bacteria. Nodulated N₂-fixing plants may better adapt to landscape situations as a result of their enhanced ability to grow in N-deficient soils. It has been demonstrated that nodulation within this species can be controlled by the amount of N plants receive from a liquid source. However, controlled release fertilizers (CRF) also are commonly used by commercial growers, and nutrient-release rates from these products can be highly variable. Our objectives were to determine if greenhouse-grown inoculated plants treated with CRF will form nodules, and what level of CRF maximizes nodule formation while sustaining acceptable plant health and growth. Inoculated containerized plants were topdressed with CRF at 0, 0.5, 1, 2, 4, 8, 16, and 32 g. A group of uninoculated plants received the manufacturer's prescribed rate of 6 g CRF. We found that treatment with 2 g CRF maximized root nodule formation (26 nodules; 110 mg dry weight). Plant growth parameters and leaf N content of 2-g treated plants were similar (P < 0.10) to those of uninoculated plants receiving the prescribed rate of CRF. We conclude that inoculated CRF-treated plants of seaside alder can form nodules, and that these plants maintain acceptable growth and N-status at CRF levels lower than that prescribed.

² Co-authored by Taun Beddis and Heidi A. Kratsch.

Introduction

Seaside alder is a threatened species native to the United States in Georgia, Oklahoma, the Delmarva Peninsula in Delaware, and Maryland (Schrader et al., 2005). Efforts have been made to encourage its use by the nursery industry because it has been found to be adapted to landscape use (Kratsch, 2008; Schrader and Graves, 2004) and can be propagated readily using both sexual and vegetative means (Schrader and Graves, 2000). *Alnus maritima* has the ability to fix atmospheric N₂ by way of a relationship with *Frankia* bacteria colonizing root nodules (Hennessey et al., 1985). Such N₂-fixing species have the capacity to survive in N-poor soils in the wild (Huguet et al., 2001; Paschke, 1997) and in cultivated situations (Hansen and Dawson, 1982) where they add significant N to the soil environment. This capacity makes them useful in the home landscape where the use of N-fertilizer can be reduced.

It has been demonstrated with various species of alder that nodulation can be limited when plants receive high concentrations of N (Berry and Torrey, 1985; Gentili and Huss-Danell, 2003; Kohls and Baker, 1989; Martin et al., 2004). Laws and Graves (2005) investigated the dynamics of this response in seaside alder and demonstrated that N-induced inhibition of nodulation is reversible.

No literature exists on effects of CRF on nodule formation, and CRF are widely used in the green industry. We performed an experiment to determine whether N contained in CRF is inhibiting to nodulation in seaside alder. Our objectives were to determine if greenhouse-grown inoculated plants treated with CRF would form nodules, and what level of CRF maximizes nodule formation while sustaining acceptable plant health and growth.

Materials and Methods

Seeds of *A. maritima* from a population in Oklahoma were cold-stratified at 4°C for 8 weeks and germinated in a flat (height = 6 cm, width = 27 cm, length = 53 cm) filled with germination mix (Sun Gro Horticulture, Bellevue, WA) on a greenhouse misting bench. Seedlings were transplanted into round plastic pots (height = 12 cm, volume = 235 cm^3) containing an unpasteurized growing substrates composed of 1 Sphagnum peat moss : 1 perlite (by volume). Plants were watered daily to field capacity and treated three times weekly with Peters Cal-MagTM fertilizer (15N-2.9P-12.5K) (Scotts Sierra Horticultural Products, Marysville, OH) adjusted to pH 5.5 and containing 21 mM N to prevent nodulation.

On 1 Aug 2007, fertilization was halted. Forty-four three-month-old seedlings of consistent size were selected and the growing substrate was washed from the roots to confirm that roots had not formed nodules. The seedlings were transplanted into square plastic pots (height = 13 cm, volume = 2200 cm^3) containing the same growing substrate as used previously.

On 14 Aug 2007, seedlings were assigned randomly to one of eleven groups, and each plant was treated as an experimental unit (n = 4). Plants were arranged on a greenhouse bench in a randomized complete block design. Group one was destructively harvested at the start of the experiment for baseline measurements of leaf area and leaf, shoot, and root dry weights. Each of nine groups was topdressed with either 0, 0.5, 1, 2, 4, 6, 8, 16, or 32 g Osmocote Plus[™] (15N–3.9P–10K) (Scotts Sierra Horticultural Products, Marysville, OH) (CRF) formulated to have a 3-4 month release-rate (and containing micronutrients Mg, S, B, Cu, Fe, chelated Fe, Mo, and Zn). Group 11 received no CRF, but was fertigated twice daily with 250 ml house nutrient solution modified to contain 8 mM NH₄NO₃ and adjusted to a pH of 5.5 (Bugbee, 2004). Group 12 remained uninoculated and unfertilized and was used to confirm that uninoculated plants did not form nodules. No further testing or analysis was performed using these plants. All treatments, with the exception of plants receiving 6 g CRF and group 12, were inoculated at the base of the stem with 30 g field soil from under roots of *Alnus incana* (L.) Moench ssp. *tenuifolia* (Nutt.) Breitung (thinleaf alder) located in Logan Canyon, UT at the Utah State University Forestry field station. The manufacturer's recommended application rate for the 6-in. nursery pots used in our research is 6 g CRF; this 6-g CRF uninoculated treatment was used for comparison of growth of inoculated plants with that of uninoculated plants fertilized at the recommended rate.

For the duration of the experiment, all plants except those receiving liquid NH₄NO₃ were irrigated twice daily with approximately 250 ml tap water (pH 7.3) by using an automated drip system to maintain the growing substrate near container capacity. Nitrate-N concentrations of leachate were measured on days 1, 14, 28, and 42 of the experiment on all repetitions from the 0, 2, 6, 8, 32 g and liquid NH₄NO₃ treatments by using an NO₃-N colorimeter test kit (#3649 SC; Lamotte Company, Chestertown, MD). Leachate was collected from substrate by suspending plants in their

pots above empty collection dishes just before the second daily irrigation. Approximately 50 ml leachate was collected per sample.

Greenhouse temperatures during the experiment were 25.5° C day/20° C night, with an overall mean temperature of 22° C. Average temperature of substrates in pots was 27° C day /22° C night. Mean photosynthetically active radiation during the experiment was 646 μ mol·m⁻²·s⁻¹.

All plants were destructively harvested after 45 days, and leaf area was measured along with dry weights of leaves, shoots, roots and nodules. Leaf N content was determined by using the Kjehdahl method (Bradstreet, 1965).

Statistical analysis was performed using SAS/STAT software version 9.1 (SAS Institute Inc. Cary, NC) and the general linear models procedure. Means separation was performed using Fisher's least significant difference (LSD) test. Levene's test was used for determining homogeneity of variances. Based on these results, a cubed-root transformation was used to achieve homogeneity of variance on nodule and root dry weights, and nodule count for further analysis. Analysis of NO₃-N contained in leachate was performed using Proc Mixed repeated measures analysis (SAS Institute Inc. Cary NC, 2006). Repeated measures analysis showed an interaction effect of a week; therefore, analyses were performed on each week separately. Regression analyses were used to test linear and polynomial effects of fertilizer level on the dependent variables. Regression analyses were also used to determine approximately when NO₃-N would have been depleted from the leachate of CRF treated plants. Measurements from the first test date were excluded to allow nutrient release from the CRF to normalize.

Results

After 45 days, mean growth measurements of inoculated plants that received 2-g CRF were significantly different from those of plants at initial harvest but not different from those of uninoculated plants that received 6 g CRF (Table 3-1). Plants that received less than 2 g CRF had not grown significantly during that time. Mean leaf nitrogen content and leaf area also were similar between the two CRF treatments. Mean nodule count and dry weight were greatest in plants that received 2 g CRF. Mean nodule count of plants that received 2g CRF was nearly double that of plants receiving the next highest level of CRF, although differences from plants in other treatments that formed nodules were not significant (Table 3-1). Nodule dry weight for the 2-g treatment was 20 mg greater than for plants in the 1-g treatment and more than double that of any other nodulated plants.

Mean nodule count and nodule dry weight sharply decreased in plants that received more than 2 g CRF, and nodule formation was inhibited at the 8-g-CRF level. No differences existed in root-to-shoot ratios between plants in any treatment and initial measurements taken from plants destructively harvested at the beginning of the experiment (P < 0.05) (data not shown). Quadratic regression functions best describe the influence of CRF level on nodule dry weight (Fig. 3-1A) and nodule count (Fig. 3-1B), and they show that these parameters were maximal in plants that received 2-g CRF. A quadratic regression function also best describes the influence of CRF level on leaf N content, with maximal leaf N concentration at 16 g CRF (Fig. 3-1C). Note that the mean leaf N content of the 2

35

Table 3-1. Means separation of parameters used to evaluate effects of various fertilizer amounts on seaside alder plants grown for 45 days in a greenhouse.

		Nodule		Leaf			
Treatment	Whole plant dry weight (g)	Count	Dry Weight (mg)	Nitrogen Content (%)	Area (cm ²)	Shoot Dry Weight (g)	Root Dry Weight (g)
T 1 TT	15.15 V	0.00	0.001		1004 56	0.07.1	5 50 1
Initial Harvest	15.15 c ³	0.00 c	0.00 b	2.03 bcd	1094.56 c	9.37 d	5.78 cd
$0.0 \mathrm{g} \mathrm{CRF}^{\mathrm{z}}$	24.11 abc	0.33 abc	30.10 ab	1.61 e	1033.74 c	12.14 bcd	11.97 ab
0.5 g CRF	20.11 bc	12.00 ab	40.20 a	1.71 de	948.83 c	12.13 bcd	7.99 abcd
1.0 g CRF	22.97 bc	14.00 ab	81.90 a	1.72 cde	1301.60 abc	15.19 bcd	7.79 abcd
2.0 g CRF	28.35 ab	26.30 a	103.10 a	2.13 bc	1177.52 abc	16.02 abc	12.33 ab
4.0 g CRF	14.49 c	11.50 abc	6.70 ab	2.00 bcde	1239.33 abc	9.55 d	4.95 d
8.0 g CRF	29.03 ab	0.00 c	0.00 b	2.20 b	1783.86 ab	18.17 ab	10.86 abc
16.0 g CRF	22.18 bc	0.00 c	0.00 b	2.30 b	1147.65 bc	15.15 bcd	7.03 bcd
32.0 g CRF	25.50 abc	0.00 c	0.00 b	2.40 b	1638.84 abc	16.86 ab	8.64 abcd
8 mM NH ₄ NO ₃	25.11 abc	0.00 c	0.00 b	3.00 a	1868.35 a	18.32 ab	6.79 bcd
$6.0 \text{ g CRF}^{\text{x}}$	34.93 a	0.00 c	0.00 b	2.36 b	1826.60 ab	21.55 a	13.39 a

^z CRF = controlled release fertilizer.

^y Means within each column followed by the same letter are not statistically different at P < 0.10 according to Fisher's least significant difference test. ^x Uninoculated treatment.



Fig. 3-1. Regression analysis of controlled release fertilizer levels (from 1 to 8 g) as the independent variable and the means of nodule dry weight (A), nodule count (B) and leaf N content (C) as dependent variables (*N*=4). A cubed-root transformation was performed on the raw data of nodule dry weight and nodule count to meet assumptions of homogeneity of variance. The data is shown in its transformed state.

g CRF treatment falls above the regression line and is similar to that of plants treated with CRF levels of 8 g or above. Regression analyses between CRF level and shoot dry weight (P = 0.1000, r²=0.7856), root dry weight (P = 0.6697, r²=0.0324) and plant dry weight (P = 0.9808, r²=0.0395) were not significant.

Analysis of NO₃-N contained in the leachate revealed that date of testing, treatment level, and their interaction were statistically significant. Nitrate-N concentrations of the leachate from tested containers were greatest during week 2 for all CRF-treated plants. Linear regression revealed that levels of NO₃-N contained in the leachate would have been depleted from the leachate for the 2-, 6-, 8-, and 32-g treatments on days 51.50 (P = 0.0065, $r^2 = 0.4460$), 48.19 (P = 0.0065, $r^2 = 0.4700$), 53.80 $(P = 0.0127, r^2 = 0.4780)$, and 60.79 $(P = 0.0011, r^2 = 0.5587)$, respectively, with a mean depletion time of 53.57 days. These same regressions also revealed that after day 14, NO₃-N levels in the CRF-treated plants decreased in a linear fashion until the end of the experiment (Appendix III). No differences in leachate NO₃-N existed between the 0- and 2-g treatment on any test date (Fig 3-2A-D) (P < 0.10). At all other CRF levels, NO₃-N concentration of the leachates were different statistically from one another accept for week 1 within each test day (Fig 3-2A-D) (P < 0.10). Plants receiving 8 mM NH₄NO₃ had statistically greater leaf N content than all other treatments (data not shown). Nitrate-N in leachate of plants in this treatment also increased on each successive test date wherein the greatest levels were measured on day 42 of the experiment.



Fig 3-2. Means of NO₃-N amounts contained in leachate from CRF-treated seaside alder plants analyzed by week. Week 1 (A), Week 2 (B), Week 3 (C), Week 4 (D), (N = 4). Means of NO₃-N levels with the same letter are not statistically different at P < 0.10 according to Fisher's least significant difference test. Error bars indicate standard deviation.

Discussion

Our results demonstrate that N from CRF influences nodule formation in seaside alder, and that healthy nodulated seaside alder plants can be produced by using fertilization rates below the CRF manufacturer's recommendations. The data suggest thatnodulated 2-g-CRF treated plants used applied N more efficiently than did plants treated with higher levels of CRF.

Plants receiving 8 mM NH₄NO₃ had statistically greater leaf N content than all other treatments. We suspect that the 3.0% N contained in the leaves of these plants was near the maximum amount of N that can be stored by this species (Kratsch and Graves, 2004, 2005). This is further verified by NO₃-N monitoring, which showed that NO₃-N in leachate of plants in this treatment increased over time and were at their highest levels on day 44 of the experiment (data not shown), suggesting that plants in this treatment had slowed their rate of N-uptake.

Nodulation patterns of plants in this experiment are generally consistent with previous work with N₂-fixing species. Laws and Graves (2005) state that both nodule formation and plant vigor was maintained in seaside alder plants receiving between 0.5 and 2 mM NH₄NO₃ from modified Hoagland's solutions, and inhibited at levels above 4mM. Similar patterns have been observed among other actinorhizal species: nodulation was prevented by application of 6 mM NH₄NO₃ in both Mexican cliffrose (*Purshia mexicana*) and bitterbrush (*Purshia tridentata*) in a greenhouse setting (Righetti et al., 1986). Arnone et al. (1994) showed that nodule formation was inhibited in *Casuarina* *cunninghamiana* plant root systems when exposed to 3.00 mM nitrate, but nodules were observed on all root systems exposed to 0.05 mM nitrate.

Plants in our 0-g-CRF treatment formed fewer nodules than plants in the 2 g treatment. In contrast, Laws and Graves (2005) showed that inoculated plants receiving N-free modified Hoagland's solution formed the greatest number of nodules. They did not recommend this as an acceptable way to encourage nodulation though, because they found that stems of plants receiving no N were deformed, and leaves were not as bright green as in plants receiving higher levels of N. Because plants in their experiments were fertigated daily with a modified Hoagland's solution containing optimal levels of all essential plant nutrients except N, nodulation was supported. Plants in our experiment were given no supplemental nutrients apart from what was provided in the CRF. It has been shown by others that nutrients in addition to N influence nodule formation in actinorhizal species. For example, Valverde et al. (2002) showed that nodule dry weight was maximized when Discaria trinervis plants were treated with P at rates between 100 and 1,000 µM as compared to plants receiving reduced amounts of P. It also has been suggested that other micronutrients such as Fe and Mo may influence nodule function (Huss-Dannell, 1997). In our study, regression analysis revealed that nodule dry weight and nodule count were maximized in the 2-g CRF treatment. It is likely that the 2 g CRF applied in our study provided just enough of all nutrients to support nodule function without levels of N that would inhibit nodule formation (Fig. 3-1 A and B).

Although N_2 -fixation assays were not performed, we are reasonably certain that N_2 -fixation was occurring because of the similarities in leaf N content and other

measured growth parameters between nodulated 2-g CRF-treated plants and uninoculated plants receiving 6 gCRF (Table 3-1). Evidence of this can be seen in Fig. 3-1C wherein leaf N content of the 2-g treatment is well above the regression line and is similar to N content of plants that received 8 g CRF and more.

Conclusions

Seaside alder has potential for use in sustainable landscapes and can be produced readily in a nodulated form by growers. Satisfactory growth and health was observed, and nodule formation occurred when quantities lower than manufacturer's recommendations were used. Future work should test the hypothesis that nodulated plants will have increased survival upon installation in the landscape. Nitrate leaching from nodulated plants in the landscape also should be tested, since no data is available on optimal levels of N fertilization of nodulated landscape plants.

Literature Cited

- Arnone, J. A., S.J. Kohls, and D.D. Baker. 1994. Nitrate effects on nodulation and nitrogenase activity of actinorhizal *Causarina* studied in split-root systems. Soil Biol Biochem. 26:599-606.
- Bradstreet, R. B. 1965. The Kjeldahl Method for Organic Nitrogen. Vol. 8. Academic Press, New York.
- Berry, A.M. and J.G. Torrey. 1985. Seed germination, seedling inoculation and establishment of *Alnus spp*. in greenhouse trials. Plant Soil 87:161-173.
- Bugbee, B. 2004. Nutrient management in recirculating hydroponic culture. Acta Hort. 648:99-107.

- Gentili, F. and K. Huss-Danell. 2003. Local and systemic effects of phosphorus and nitrogen on nodulation and nodule function in *Alnus incana*. J. Exp. Bot. 54:2757-2767.
- Hansen, E. and J. Dawson. 1982. Effects of Alnus glutinosa on hybrid Populus height growth in a short-rotation intensively cultured plantation. For. Sci. 28(1):49-59.
- Hennessy, T.C., L.K. Bair, and R.W.McNew. 1985. Variation in response among three *Alnus* spp. to progressive water stress. Plant Soil 87:135-141.
- Huguet, V., J.M. Batzli, J.E. Zimpfer, P. Normand, Dawson J.O., and M.A. Fernandez. 2001. Diversity of *Frankia* strains in nodules of sympatric *Myrica gale*, *Alnus incana*, and *Shepherdia canadensis* determined by rss gene polymorphism. App.Env. Micro. 67(5):2116-2122.
- Huss-Danell, K. 1997. Tansley Review No. 93: Actinorhizal symbioses and their N₂ fixation. New Phytol. 136:375-405.

Kratsch, H.A. 2008. *Alnus maritima* ssp. *oklahomensis* performance in non-irrigated landscapes in the intermountain west. J Env. Hort. In Press.

- Kratsch, H.A. and W.R. Graves. 2004. Location and Anatomy of Nodules on Alnus maritima Subjected to Flooding. J Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci. 129:775-780.
- Kratsch, H.A. and W.R. Graves. 2005. Oxygen Concentration Affects Nitrogenase Activity and Nodule Anatomy of *Alnus maritima*. Plant Cell Environ. In Press.
- Kohls, S.J. and D.D. Baker. 1989. Effects of substrate nitrate concentration on symbiotic nodule formation in actinorhizal plants. Plant Soil 118:171-179.
- Laws, M.T. and Graves W.R. 2005. Nitrogen inhibits nodulation and reversibly suppresses nitrogen fixation in nodules of *Alnus maritina*. J. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci. 130(4):496-499.
- Martin, K.J., N.J.Posavats, and D.D. Myrold. 2004. Nodulation potential of soils from red alder stands covering a wide age range. Plant Soil 254(1):187-192.
- Paschke, M.W. 1997. Actinorhizal plants in rangelands of the western United States. J. Range Manage. 50(1):62-72.
- Righetti, T.L., C.H. Chard, and R.A. Backhaus. 1986. Soil and environmental factors related to nodulation in *Cowania* and *Purshia*. Plant Soil. 91(2):147-160.

SAS Institute Inc. 2006. SAS/STAT general linear model. Release 9.1 Edition. Cary N.C.

- Schrader, J.A., S.J. Gardner, and W.R. Graves. 2005. Resistance to water stress of *Alnus maritima*: Intraspecific variation and comparisons to other alders. Environ. Exp. Bot. 53:281-298.
- Schrader, J.A. and W.R.Graves. 2000. Propagation of Alnus maritima from softwood cuttings. HortScience 35:293-295.
- Schrader, J.A. and W.R. Graves. 2004. 'September Sun' seaside alder: an autumn blooming shrub native to North America. HortScience 39(2):438-439.
- Valverde, C., A. Ferrari, and L.G. Wall. 2002. Phosphorus and the regulation of nodulation in the actinorhizal symbiosis between *Discaria trinervis* (Rhamnaneae) and *Frankia* BCU110501. New Phytol. 153:43-51.

CHAPTER 4

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Sustainability has become increasingly important to the green industry for several reasons. Many government agencies require the use of conservation methods to reduce water use and pollution from over-fertilization. The public is also becoming increasingly interested in sustainability, and an aspect of this is utilization of landscape plants needing fewer inputs than those currently produced by growers.

Unfortunately, limited research exists concerning commercial production and propagation protocols for many drought-tolerant native plants. In response to this, we chose four plants that prospectively could be used within the local landscape that would require fewer inputs in production and few to no inputs once established. They include Mexican cliffrose (*Purshia mexicana*), silver buffaloberry (*Shepherdia argentea*), roundleaf buffaloberry (*Shepherdia rotundifolia*), and seaside alder (*Alnus maritima*). Mexican cliffrose and both species of buffaloberry are locally native, and seaside alder is native to Oklahoma, Georgia, and the Delmarva Peninsula. Although not indigenous to the Intermountain West, seaside alder is potentially adapted to IMW landscapes in locations that have occasionally water-logged soils, where it shows no potential for invasiveness.

Many within the local green industry expressed concern about a lack of information concerning maximizing germination rates in commercial settings of many local native plants showing potential for use in the landscape. I also suspected that these species are detrimentally impacted by traditional growing substrates where water-holding porosity is impacted by high amounts of organic matter. To determine the validity of this assumption, I sowed previously stratified seeds of roundleaf buffaloberry and silver buffaloberry in three substrates with differences in water-holding porosities and water release characteristics primarily due to varying amounts of organic matter within each substrate. I found that roundleaf buffaloberry germination was maximized in a calcined clay containing no organic matter and greater amounts of air-filled pore space. This species had low germination rates in the substrates containing organic matter. Silver buffaloberry germination rates varied, and were not statistically different across substrates. This shows that the influence of organic matter content on water-holding porosity can be detrimental to germination of some species native to arid environments, but that others are more adaptable to the various substrates that may be used in commercial production.

It is also known that nodulation of actinorhizal species can be impacted by various concentrations of nutrients received from a liquid source, especially N, but little to no information exists on effects of a controlled release fertilizer (CRF) on nodule formation, and CRF are widely used in the green industry. I investigated impacts of a CRF on nodule formation in seaside alder and specifically sought to determine if previously inoculated plants treated with CRF would form nodules, and what level of CRF maximizes nodule formation. I found that 2-g CRF maximized root nodule formation. Plant growth parameters and leaf N content of 2-g treated plants were similar to plants receiving greater amounts of CRF. Although methods to determine if *Frankia* bacteria within root nodules were fixing atmospheric N₂ were not included, evidence

such as similarities in leaf N content between the inoculated 2-g treatment and treatments receiving greater amounts of CRF and similarities in other growth characteristics such as leaf dry weight and root dry weight support that nodulated plants with the 2-g CRF treatment were fixing atmospheric N_2 .

I also found a lack of seed testing within the local native plant industry to be problematic. Twice, I purchased seeds for experimental use and was only able to get enough seeds for the actual experiments and not for seed testing due to limited availability. Seeds did not include basic seed quality tests as required by law, and two experiments were detrimentally affected because of this (Appendices I and II). Specifically, Mexican cliffrose was initially included in the germination experiment involving roundleaf buffaloberry and silver buffaloberry, but was eventually excluded due to uncharacteristically poor germination rates. However, trends in the data suggest that its germination was maximized in substrates containing little to no organic matter. The second experiment involved roundleaf buffaloberry germination. I desired to further refine seed stratification protocols of this species. To do so, I used combinations of either heat- or acid-scarification combined with cold-stratification. Again, due to poor seed quality, results were inconclusive.

It is realized that this work is not comprehensive when considering the various aspects involved in determining propagation and production protocols of species that could be used in a sustainable manner. However, I hope that research continues and that more species better adapted to the local environment will become more available for use.

APPENDICES

Appendix I

Germination of Roundleaf Buffaloberry in a calcined clay using combinations of cold stratification, acid scarification, and heat scarification

In a continuation of the experiment involving germination of roundleaf buffaloberry, and silver buffaloberry in three substrates, I further wanted to refine techniques in breaking seed dormancy to maximize roundleaf buffaloberry germination. In the previously mentioned experiment, I used 16 weeks of cold-stratification to break seed dormancy in both species. This is a standard amount of time used by many local growers. However, some also have used alternative methods such as heat- and acidscarification to do so. Beyond techniques local growers utilize, I located little formal research involving breaking seed dormancy of roundleaf buffaloberry in a nursery setting.

To further my knowledge in this area, I designed an experiment involving various periods of seed stratification in combination with heat-scarification or acid-scarification.

Materials and Methods

Seeds used in these trials were from the same accession and obtained from Maple Leaf Seed (Ephraim, UT 84627). Initially, I sought to determine a minimum amount of time seeds required to be soaked in sulfuric acid to breakdown the seed coat to a point at which water uptake was maximized but possible embryo damage was minimized. To do so, the following protocol was followed:

- Samples of 25 seeds were considered an experimental unit and were soaked in sulfuric acid (reagent 95-98% pure, EMD Chemicals, Gibbstown, New Jersey, 08027) for 0, 1, 5, 10, or 15 min with three repetitions per treatment (n=3).
- To do so, a seed group was placed in 15 ml sulfuric acid and vigorously stirred for 30 sec. After stirring, the seeds were allowed to soak for the remaining allotted time.
- Following the acid soak, seeds were vigorously rinsed in a colander under lukewarm tap water for 1 minute. Seeds were then allowed to soak in a container filled with 200 ml of tap water for an additional 5 min.
- After soaking, seeds were air-dried on paper towels for 14 hrs, and then weighed for initial weights.
- After weighing, each group was placed in 100 mm petri dishes containing 1 piece of 90 mm germination paper wetted with 4 ml deionized water.
- I then cold-stratified the seeds at 3°C for one week.
- When the week waiting period was finished, seed groups were again weighed to determine total water uptake. Water uptake was calculated using the following formula:

Percent increase = (final weight – initial weight)/initial weight) * 100%

After determining an appropriate amount of time seeds should be soaked in sulfuric acid to maximize water uptake, I next sought to determine an optimal treatment to maximize germination rates in a calcined clay.

- Groups of 50 seed were considered an experimental unit. Treatments included: groups of seed cold-stratified for 16, 8, 4, and 0 weeks; groups of seed scarified for 10 minutes in sulfuric acid using procedures listed in experiment 1, and then stratified for 8, 4, and 0 weeks; groups of seeds scarified by placement in 250 ml boiling tap water (98° C), allowed to cool to room temperature, and then stratified for 8, 4, and 0 weeks.
- Kord #1006 inserts (Kord Products Inc., Brampton, Ontario, Canada, L6T 1G8) (individual cell dimensions: L = 5.17 cm, W = 5.17 cm, H = 6.37 cm) were placed in Kord #1020 flats (Kord Products Inc., Ontario, Brampton, Canada, L6T 1G8) (L = 50.8 cm, W = 26.67 cm, H = 6.37 cm) and filled to the top with Turface MVPTM, a calcined clay product (Profile Products, Buffalo Grove IL, 60089). Seeds were sown approximately 2 cm deep within the calcined clay.
- Flats were placed into a randomized, complete block design (n=4), and seeds were overhead irrigated twice daily to container capacity. Germination rates were recorded daily for 45 days.
- Tetrazolium tests were performed on all ungerminated seeds from the first repetition at the end of the experiment to determine seed quality. Tests were not performed before the experiment due to a lack of seed.

Statistics. Statistical analysis was performed using the SAS/STAT software version 9.1 (SAS Institute Inc. Cary, NC), using the general linear models procedure of SAS. Statistical significance was considered at the 95% level. Means separation was performed using Fisher's least significant difference (LSD) test, and Levene's test was used to gauge homogeneity of variance.

Results

Water uptake was statistically equal and best in the 10 and 15 min treatments, but I opted to use the 10 min treatment to diminish possible damage to seed embryos by the acid. Seed germination was not found to be statistically different among treatments. However, the treatment receiving 8 weeks cold-stratification in combination with heatscarification exhibited 7% germination: higher than any other treatment (Table A-1). Lowest germination rates were observed in the acid-scarified treatments.

Treatment (Weeks ^z)	Viable (%)	Non-Viable (%)	Total Germinated (%)
16	68.00	32.00	3.12
8	34.00	66.00	2.08
4	40.00	60.00	4.68
0	64.00	32.00	1.04
8 acid ^x	18.00	82.00	1.56
4 acid	26.00	74.00	1.04
0 acid	32.00	68.00	0.52
8 boiling ^y	74.00	26.00	7.29
4 boiling	60.00	40.00	2.60
0 boiling	74.00	26.00	3.65

Table A-1. Viable, nonviable and germination percentages of roundleaf buffaloberry.

^z Weeks of cold stratification

^x These treatments received cold stratification in combination with acid scarification

^y These treatments received cold stratification in combination with heat scarification

Tetrazolium tests. Tetrazolium tests from the 0 -week cold treatment receiving no heator acid-scarification revealed almost 60% of the seed to be viable and 36% to be nonviable. These results are considered baseline measurements for comparison to results from other treatments (Table 1-1). It also appears that acid-scarification for 10 min was damaging to seed embryos; in all cases, number of viable seed was far lower than the 60% seen on the 0 week cold stratification treatment and other treatments in general.

Discussion and Conclusions

If time allowed for repetition of this experiment, even though no statistical differences were found between treatments, results revealed that combinations of cold-

stratification and heat-scarification should be focused on since germination was maximized in these treatments. Fewer seeds were also rendered nonviable by the heat scarification treatments as compared to acid (Table 6).

It is also unknown how old the seed was when we purchased it. The vendor thought it was less than 2 years old but was unsure. If the seed was of extreme age, this also could have accounted low germination rates, even though roughly 60% of the seed tested was viable.

It is also notable that the vendor apparently did not perform seed quality tests as required by law. No certificates of quality were included with our purchase. This is a problem within the local native plant industry that needs to be remedied. It inhibits growers from making judgments on how much seed to order for future needs.

Appendix II

Germination of Purshia mexicana in three substrates

Mexican cliffrose [*Purshia mexicana* (D. Don) Henrickson] was listed in the Potts (2002) study as being desired for use within the Colorado nursery industry. Because of this, it was initially included in the germination experiment entitled: Seed germination of *Shepherdia rotundifolia* and *Shepherdia argentea* in three substrates. Unfortunately, the purchased seed was of poor quality. Tetrazolium test after the end of the experiment revealed that 74% of the seed was empty and another 7% was nonviable.

Even though poor seed quality limited useful statistical analysis of the data pertaining to this species, trends suggest that its germination, like that of roundleaf buffaloberry, is maximized in a substrate containing little organic matter in which its germination rate in the germination, native and calcined clay substrates were: 11.1%, 6.3% and 19.1%, respectively, with a mean germination rate of 12.1%. Further research is needed to verify this and could be potentially useful to growers of drought-adapted native plants.

Personal experience has shown poor quality seed to be a problem in the local native plant seed industry despite existing government regulations pertaining to seed quality standards. These standards are all too often not followed. This is a especially a deterrent to commercial growers who often times must rely on seeds from wherever they can be found due to a limited supply. Appendix III

Unpublished Data from Nodulation of Seaside Alder

Topdressed with Controlled Release Fertilizer



Fig. A-1 Regression analysis of controlled release fertilizer levels as the independent variable and NO₃-N levels contained in the leachate of 2 g CRF (controlled release fertilizer) (A), 6 g CRF (B), 8 g CRF (C) and 32 g CRF (D) as dependent variables (N=4